NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE PROTOCOL COMMITTEE TO BE HELD BY
REMOTE VIDEO CONFERENCE ON THURSDAY 21 OCTOBER 2021 AT 8.00 AM
AGENDA
THURSDAY 21 OCTOBER 2021
PAGE
1

Minutes of the meeting held on 23rd September 2021 and matters arising.

2-5

2

Conference Attendance & Reports:

6

 Cllr. Dermot Lacey: AILG Training on Councillor Remuneration and Planning
Legislation. Glendalough Hotel, Glendalough, Co. Wicklow. 23 rd September
2021.
3

Terms of Reference on the Second Legal Opinion relating to Section 140 Motion
submitted to the October Council meeting by Cllrs. Perry, Lyons and Nicoullaud

4

City Hall Illumination

7

a)

Review and Update of Illumination Policy

8 - 10

b)

City Hall Illumination Requests for the month of November:

11

 Request from Color the World Orange to illuminate City Hall on 1st November
2021 to raise awareness of the condition Complex Regional Pain Syndrome
(CRPS), also known as Reflex Sympathetic Dystrophy (RSD).
 Request from the Alzheimer's Foundation of America (AFA) to illuminate City
Hall on 4th November 2021 in support of their awareness campaign.
 Request from Soroptimist International Dublin to illuminate City Hall for 16 days
from 23rd November 2021 in support of "Orange the World", a UNESCO
campaign raising awareness of domestic violence.
12 - 13

5

Traffic Division Update

6

Managers’ Report

7

A.O.B.

8

Proposed date of next meeting: 25th November 2021 at 8am

Deirdre Ni Raghallaigh
Senior Executive Officer,

Date: 15th October 2021

MINUTES OF THE PROTOCOL COMMITTEE MEETING
HELD ON THURSDAY 23 SEPTEMBER 2021

1

Minutes of the meeting held on 29th July 2021 and matters arising.
Agreed.
Matters arising.
Cllr Costello requested that the criteria for information meetings on planning
applications be circulated to Members. D. Ní Raghallaigh to arrange response
from City Planning Officer.
Cllr Feeney requested a follow up information session on the Councillor Portal for
Members who missed the earlier presentation.

2

Upgrade of City Hall Councillor Facilities
Report circulated and noted. Subgroup to come back with a proposal in relation to
the party rooms, noted that the Independent Group was a large group and subgroup to discuss whether two smaller rooms would be more suitable.
Manager to report back on Saturday opening. Members re-iterated the need for
consultation with them prior to decisions being taken in City Hall. Agreed that
meeting rooms should be cleared of items belonging to former councillors and
that old furniture would be restored / upcycled where possible.
D. Cunningham confirmed programme of works for City Hall to be finalised within
a week. Preliminary designs for Newcomen expected within 2 weeks. Update to
be provided on Newcomen & to include DAC.

3

Report from the Assistant Chief Executive on Issues in the Traffic
Department.
John Flanagan detailed the issues that had been highlighted to him by Councillors
that included length of time for responses, lack of engagement with Councillors,
lack of transparency in decision making processes, decisions not being attributed
to the Councillors, timing of delivery of works unclear with no clear time
commitments, lack of responses from generic email addresses.
He
acknowledged that there were issues and a need to act.
It was acknowledged that while it was a difficult period for staff over 18 months
with staff being redeployed, different working arrangements, smaller operational
pods and a loss of staff in a number of areas.
He outlined a number of areas that he was seeking to address including
 Cultural Change
1
Page 2





Staffing –review underway examining numbers & grades within areas
Review of procedures & processes
Funding

Sanction has been sought to fill 32 additional staff to work on active travel,
includes a position of Programme Director – the role will include Communications
and Engagement.
He also suggested an independently facilitated workshop for staff and councillors
to examine how processes could be improved and create a shared understanding
of the challenges faced by Councillors.
Assurance was given of the return of Neighbourhood Schemes and agreed to
prioritise small initiatives to benefit the community.
Members asked the Assistant Chief Executive to examine the online consultation
tool and determine how best to ensure that issues raised by those directly
affected are differentiated from issues raised by those campaigning.
Action :
4

Written report to be prepared on the actions to be taken.

Chief Executives Report on Departmental responses to Questions and
Motions
CE discussed the issued at Senior Management Team Meeting. Managers
advised that from 1st October all questions to contain a timeline if outlining work to
be completed. Senior Managers have been requested to oversee all formal
responses to Council question.

5

Lord Mayor's LGBTQI & Freedom City Proposal for Dublin
Report circulated. Noted that further clarification required on legal process for
pedestrian crossings and for visual impairment. Further update to October
meeting, prior to report to November Council meeting.

6

Women's Committee Update
Cllr. Lonergan updated the Committee on the following projects:
 Presentation to the Group by the Senior Policy and Commissioning
Manager for
 Violence Against Women and Girls Programme, London Mayor's Office for
Policing and Crime.
 Shadowing Programme progressing
 Launch of the Women in Politics Video Series on 29th September, she
appealed to Members to support their colleagues.

7

City Hall Illumination Requests:
Report circulated. A summary of the requests received below :

Date
30/09/21
15/10/21

Organisation
Decision
Recovery Academy Ireland (Irish Agreed
for
Mansion
Charity)
House & City Hall
Feileacain - Still Birth & Neonatal Death Facilitated by Mansion
Ass of Ireland. (Irish Charity)
House
2
Page 3

15/10/21

Request received 30/07/21)
Raising Awareness of Developmental
Language
Disorder
International
Committee 15th

Agreed for City Hall

Request receiv ed 17/09/21)
Was

04/10/2110/04/21

accepted in 2020
DFB Fire Safety Week

13/10/21

Thrombosis Ireland

01/11/21

Colour the Work Orange

04/11/21
23/11/21
16 days

Alzheimer’s Foundation of America
(American Not-for-Profit).
Soroptimist International Dublin (Irish
NGO)

01/03/22

The Down Syndrome Centre

19/04/22

Congenital
Diaphragmatic
Hernia
(CDH) International (Global Not-forProfit

Agreed - Mansion House
with the exception of
7/10/2021.
7/10/2021 is lit a different
colour for Trigeminal
Neuralgia
Awareness
Day
City Hall – 1 day
Mansion House, not City
Hall
Mansion House, decision
deferred for City Hall
Mansion House, decision
deferred for City Hall
Mansion House is lit up
on this date for Winter
Lights. Waiting to see if
the background colour of
the Mansion House can
be lit up different colours
with the Winter Lights.
Decision deferred for
City Hall
Mansion House - not on
1/3/2022
but
on
21/3/2022 which is World
Down Syndrome Day.
Decision deferred for
City Hall
Agreed for Mansion
House
decision
deferred for City Hall

Noted that the Mansion House had also received some of the requests. Agreed
to sanction the requests prior to the next meeting as listed above. However,
further discussion required on the Lighting Policy and whether the impact is
lessened if there are too many events. To be discussed at next meeting.
8

Motion in the name of Cllr. Noeleen Reilly: "To ensure that all Councillors
and TDS are Invited to events in Dublin City. It appears that only when
Ministers are attending Local Areas only Government Party Councillors and
TDs are invited."
Motion deferred to next meeting.
Cllr. Lacey requested that the Manager write to all Areas to inform them that Local
Councillors should be invited to all local events.

9

Managers Report
a)

Launch of the O'Connell Plinth sculpture commission
3
Page 4

The Manager informed Members that the sculpture commission for the
O'Connell Plinth will be installed on Sunday 26 September and a press
photocall with the Lord Mayor, the artist and members of the Steering
Group will take place on Wednesday 29 September. Cllr. Cooney and Cllr
Flynn requested that they be fully informed of the event given their role in
the project.
11

A.O.B.
Councillor Welfare was discussed. The Lord Mayor noted that the Councillor
Training Programme for 2022 was being developed and suggested inclusion of
mental health and well being.
It was agreed that the Chair of the Protocol Committee would write to the family of
Cllr. Anthony Flynn to express the Committee’s condolences.

12

Proposed Date of Next Meeting: 8am on 21st October 2021
Agreed.

Councillor Anne Feeney
Chairperson
Thursday 23 September 2021

Attendance:
Members:
Anne Feeney (Chairperson)
Racheal Batten
Joe Costello
Dermot Lacey
Naoise Ó Muirí
Noeleen Reilly
Officers
Deirdre Ní Raghallaigh
Darragh Cunningham

Members:

Members:

Anthony Connaghan
Mannix Flynn
Darcy Lonergan
Cat O'Driscoll

Donna Cooney
Deirdre Heney
Briege MacOscar
Michael Pidgeon

John Flanagan

Ruth Dowling

4
Page 5

Report to the Protocol Committee for noting and referral to the City Council
Dermot Lacey

Councillor Name
Conference/Seminar Name

AILG Training on Councilors Remuneration
system and Planning legislation
As above

Conference/Seminar Topic
Glendalough Hotel, Glendalough, Co. Wicklow

Venue/Location
23rd September 2021

Date (s) of Conference
Brief Summary
The Training event was divided into two sections: The first dealt with the complexity of the
new regulations on Councilor expenses and the need for proper records and retention of
receipts.
Further clarification is being sought by AILG and they expect further updates from the
Department shortly.
The second part dealt with the new Planning and Development Bill 2021 and various changes
to planning legislation since the adoption of the last set of City and County Development
Plans.

Recommendations
It is recommended that the Council would make a submission to the Minister seeking the
retention of the Area Committee consultation model on major SHD applications when the
legislation is amended shortly. Under the Draft legislation this provision is being removed.

Declaration
I certify that I attended the above-mentioned Conference/Training Seminar.

Signed by

Date

Dermot Lacey

23rd September 2021

Page 6

Page 7

City Hall: Special Lighting Policy (2021)
INTRODUCTION
1) City Hall was originally built as the Royal Exchange and was completed in 1779. It was
used by the merchants of Dublin as a financial centre until Dublin Corporation bought
the building in 1851. Following a programme of alterations, it was re-opened as City
Hall in 1852. The building underwent a two-year refurbishment programme in 1998 –
2000 and has now been restored to its former eighteenth century glory. It is one of the
most iconic buildings in Dublin City and indeed is recognised internationally.
The building has an external lighting system that, in addition to its use for essential
operational lighting (eg security, health and safety etc), allows the building to be lit in
a single colour wash (including blackout). Such lighting can not only help highlight the
building’s architectural features, but can in turn help Dublin City Council to participate
in celebrations and commemorations in the wider community, strengthen public
engagement and promote Dublin City, all of which can have a positive reputational
impact. However, conversely, inappropriate and over-use of the special lighting facility
could adversely affect the reputation of the Dublin City Council.
This special lighting policy sets out the parameters and criteria that must be met for
special lighting to be allowed and the process through which applications can be made,
considered and, if approved, put into effect. Certain definitions are also contained
herein and apply in relation to this policy.
SPECIAL LIGHTING CRITERIA
2) The Protocol Committee may agree to light City Hall for occasions that are significant
in the wider community. The occasions on which the Protocol Committee will light City
Hall will include:
a)
b)
c)
d)
e)
f)
g)

International Women’s Day, 8th March – Purple
Saint Patrick’s Day, 17th March – Green
Holocaust Memorial Day, 27th January Day - Purple
Republic Day, 24th April - Green
May Day, 1st May - Red
Europe Day, 9th May - Blue
Human Rights Day, 10th December – Blue

3) The Protocol Committee may grant permission for special lighting in connection with
other occasions, if the requests originates from the following:
a) A registered charity, or a public-sector or a community or other non-profit
making organisation.
b) Elected Members of Dublin City Council.
c) The Lord Mayor
4) Individuals and commercial organisations may not apply for special lighting.
5) The number of special lighting events will be limited to one per calendar month 12 in
a calendar year although the Protocol Committee may vary this at its discretion.

Page 8

6) Approval for special lighting will be considered only when such lighting is in connection
with one or more of the following:
a) In support of a charitable cause based in Ireland
b) An event of exceptional local, national or international significance and/or
achievement.
c) An event of constitutional or democratic significance.
d) A significant anniversary of a significant local, national or international event.
e) An event that is considered as being of significant benefit to Dublin City from a
promotional, reputational or engagement perspective.
f) An event being held in City Hall but only where this also meets one of the above
criteria at a) to e) in this paragraph.
7) Requests for special lighting will not be approved where such lighting is:
a) Linked to the celebration of another countries national day.
b) Linked to business that is currently before the City Council, unless otherwise
deemed appropriate by the Protocol Committee; and/or
c) Linked to a party political issue, or a campaigning issue that is novel,
contentious or politically sensitive, unless otherwise deemed appropriate by the
Protocol Committee; and/or
d) Obviously contentious and risks reputational damage to the City Council;
and/or
e) Generates a commercial advantage; and/or
f) Is not in keeping with the purpose and dignity of the building.
PROCESS
8) Requests for special lighting should be made directly to the Chief Executive’s Office
and should contain all relevant information. The request must be received by the Chief
Executive’s Office no later than six eight weeks before the date(s) on which
special lighting is being sought. Requests should be sent to the following email:
Chiefexecutive@dublincity.ie
9) Each request will be evaluated by the Chief Executive’s Office, who will consider
whether it meets the requirements of this policy.
10) Valid requests will be brought to the next meeting of the Protocol Committee for
decision. Approval for a special lighting request will be based on a simple majority of
those members in attendance.
11) Once a request has been agreed for any particular month no further requests
will be considered for that month.
12) Once a decision has been made, the requestor will be advised as soon as possible
thereafter. Where approval for special lighting has been given, the necessary
arrangements will be put in place.
CANCELLATION
13) The Protocol Committee may, at its absolute discretion and with or without notice,
cancel any approved requests for special lighting
SCOPE
14) This policy excludes requests of special lighting in regards to the Mansion House. The
approval of such requests will be at the discretion of the incumbent Lord Mayor.
However, such requests should be viewed in light of this policy.

Page 9

15) This policy will apply equally to the Civic Offices on Wood Quay. and other Civic and
administrative buildings of Dublin City Council. However, in such circumstances the
decision to approve a request will lie with the Executive.
16) This policy does not apply to Dublin City Council organised events and promotional
activities.

Page 10

City Hall Lighting Up Requests:
1) Organisation: Colour the World Orange
Cause: CRPS/RSD Awareness. Color the World Orange™ is an annual event held
the first Monday of November to spread awareness of Complex Regional Pain
Syndrome (CRPS), also known as Reflex Sympathetic Dystrophy (RSD), a debilitating
nerve condition characterized by continuous, intense, burning pain that is out of
proportion to the severity of the original injury. Your support helps to bring visibility to
a condition that too few people know about or understand and for which there is no
cure.
The sixth-annual Color the World Orange™ in 2019 was the largest yet with 176
buildings, bridges and landmarks in nine countries including Niagara Falls, SSE
Arena, Wembley in London, the CN Tower in Toronto, Eden Park in Auckland, New
Zealand, Story Bridge in Brisbane, Australia and Mansion House in Dublin were lit
orange for Color The World Orange ™.
Date: 1st November 2021
2) Organisation: Alzheimer’s Foundation of America (American Not-for-Profit).
Cause: Last year more than 310 landmarks around the world, including the iconic
Empire State Building, participated in last year’s initiative. This support helps AFA
shine a spotlight on Alzheimer’s disease and the impact it has on families around the
globe.
Date: 4th November 2021.
Note : Alzheimers awareness month in Ireland is in September, the request is
for Teal and the only colours available for City Hall include : White, Red, Green,
Blue, Gold, Purple, Pink & Orange.
3) Organisation: Soroptimist International Dublin (Irish NGO)
Cause: "Orange the World" campaign which happens internationally under a
UNESCO programme to raise awareness and show solidarity with women and children
experiencing domestic violence. The campaign takes the format of lighting up one or
more public buildings in orange for the 16 Days of Action for Violence Against Women.
Date: 16 days from November 23rd

Page 11

Report to Dublin City Council’s Protocol Committee
Traffic Division’s Organisational Transformation - Listing of Actions for
Organisational Change within the Traffic Division, Environment & Transportation
Department.
Following a verbal report (of the 23rd September 2021) to the Dublin City Council Protocol Committee on
the organisational transformation requirements to improve the organisational culture, work processes,
communication and engagement issues within the Traffic Division of the Environment & Transportation
Department, the following change actions are planned to be implemented as part of an overall
organisational transformation:
1. Change actions to be applied to the Traffic Division’s Traffic Advisory Group (TAG) and
Parking Enforcement Areas:
a) The establishment of senior management oversight within the Traffic Division of the Environment
& Transportation Department, ensuring a continued emphasis on reinforcing a culture of
improved communications and engagement with Elected Members, while acknowledging the
work that the area engineers and administration staff have undertaken to-date, especially during
the COVID 19 crisis (Time scale for implementation: Q4 2021 to Q1 2022).
b) The appointment of Dublin City Council’s Organisational Transformation Unit, including an
independent specialist in organisational transformation, to develop and guide the change
programme, in consultation with Elected Members. The change programme required for the
implementation of improvements in work processes, communications and engagement of the
Traffic Division is to include for the implementation of a staffing review of work areas dealing with
the work of Area Engineers, Traffic Advisory Group (TAG) and Parking Enforcement sections
(Target date for completion of organisational review and change programme: Q2 2022).
c) The implementation of an independently facilitated workshop between the Traffic Division’s staff
and Elected Members in order to further develop the work processes and communications’
streams of the Division (Time scale for implementation: Q1 2022).
d) In parallel with the implementation of the organisational changes it is proposed to re-establish
the Traffic Advisory Group (TAG) area staffing ,and the work on Neighbourhood Schemes, with
an emphasis on seeking ‘quick wins’ (Time scale for implementation: Q4 2021).
e) An assessment, in conjunction with Elected Members and Area Office staff, of the feasibility of a
dedicated Meeting on traffic matters at an agreed interval; and/or Working Group Meetings,
between Traffic Division’s staff and Elected Members (Time scale for implementation: Q4 2021
to Q1 2022).

Page 1 of 2
Page 12

2.

Change actions to be applied to the Active Travel Programme area:
f)

The establishment of a senior management position of Programme Director (at Executive
Manager level) with the remit for the Active Travel Programme Office dealing with the major
cycleway projects across the City, where the role of Programme Director will have an emphasis
on consultation, communication and engagement (Time scale for implementation: Q4 2021 to
Q1 2022).

g) The establishment of the Active Travel Programme Office with the appropriate levels of
multidisciplinary staffing for the implementation of the Active Travel Programme of projects, with
an emphasis on public consultation, communication and engagement (Time scale for
implementation: Q4 2021 to Q1 2022).
The progress and effectiveness of the above change actions are to be reviewed at regular intervals by
senior management of the Environment & Transportation Department, taking into account feedback from
Elected Members, and appropriate adjustments to the change actions are to be made if considered
necessary.

John W. Flanagan
Assistant Chief Executive & City Engineer
Environment & Transportation Department
19th October 2021

Page 2 of 2
Page 13

